IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

APPEAL NO. 2008-CA-01617

DIANN & DAVID HANS,

Plaintiff-Appellants

VERSUS

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT, ARTHUR SPROLES, and JAMES LOVETTE

Defendant-Appellees

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Harrison County, First Judicial District Jerry O. Terry, Circuit Judge Cause No. A2401-2007-00100

Appellants' Brief

Submitted by:

Robert Homes Jr.
P. O. Box 500
Gulfport, MS 39502
(601) 863-8888
Miss. Bar
Attorney for Appellants

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellants request oral argument.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- Whether Plaintiffs' claims against the Defendants
 Lovette and Sproles were filed timely.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erroneously granted the Defendants Lovette's and Sproles' Motions to Dismiss.
- 3. Whether the Defendant Memorial Hospital met the test for summary judgment under MRCP Rule 56 (i.e., whether there was "no genuine issue of material fact" and whether the Hospital was "entitled to judgment as a matter of law").
- 4. Whether the reports of Plaintiffs' medical expert, Dr. Hale, established negligence and proximate cause against Memorial Hospital.
- 5. Whether the Circuit Court erroneously granted the Defendant Memorial Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- 6. Any other issue inherent in Plaintiff-Appellants' Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a suit for personal injuries sustained by Diann
Hans, and loss of consortium by her husband David Hans, as a
result of medical malpractice by the Defendants Memorial Hospital
at Gulfport, Dr. Arthur Sproles, and Dr. James Lovette.

The primary Plaintiff in this case is Diann Hans, who sustained personal injuries due to the Defendants' medical malpractice, the claim of her husband, David, being only for loss of consortium resulting from Diann's injury. Since no factual or

legal issue involving the loss of consortium claim is directly involved in this appeal, and since that claim is dependent on Diann's primary claim and was dismissed only because Diann's claim was dismissed, this Brief will focus only on the facts and law relative to Diann's claim.

The suit was dismissed as to all Defendants when the Circuit Court in separate Orders granted various motions (to be described shortly, under Statement of Proceedings Below) filed by Defendants. This appeal is taken from the Orders and resulting Judgments of Dismissal.

1. Underlying facts

Diann Hans began feeling bad in the afternoon of April 5, 2006; she left work early and went home. The pain and nausea increased throughout the night. At about 8:30 the next morning, April 6, she left home with her mother and went to an Urgent Care facility, but there discovered that clinic had not yet reopened after Hurricane Katrina. (R-408)

She then phoned the office of Dr. Jim Gaddy, her OBGYN doctor, and was advised to come to his office, where she arrived at approximately 9:25 a.m. Dr. Gaddy determined that Diann was suffering from appendicitis and sent her across the street to Memorial Hospital. He told Diann it was urgent and to go immediately and nowhere else, and he called the hospital himself to let them know she was coming and of his diagnosis. (R-408)

As instructed, Diann immediately went to the Hospital's emergency room (hereinafter the ER) and there was told that Dr. Gaddy had called. She was taken to a trauma room, given pain

medication, an IV and antibiotics, and blood was drawn. At 12:30 p.m. an ultrasound was performed and Diann was advised by the nurse that "they could almost guarantee me it was my appendix". At 2:30 p.m. she was told by the ER physician, Dr. Bell, that she needed a CT Scan. The CT Scan was done at 6:30 p.m. Dr. Bell visited her in the trauma room and advised that the CT Scan indicated it was "probably" the appendix. At 10:00 p.m. she was told by a nurse they could not reach the doctor who was on call, who she said was Dr. Lovette. The nurse also said that she was upset because she could not get in touch with him, and that her supervisor was aware of the trouble they were having in getting in touch with the doctor. (R-408)

It turned out that Dr. Lovette never could be contacted by the ER staff, who finally contacted Dr. Sproles by telephone, and he agreed to assume responsibility for Mrs. Hans as a patient. Dr. Sproles did not come to the Hospital to see Mrs. Hans, but simply told the ER personnel that he would be there in the morning to perform the surgery.

Later, when through discovery in the lawsuit a copy of the ER's appropriate "Call List" was produced by the Hospital, Dr. Lovette was listed as being on call for the date in question, April 6, 2006. Also listed that week was Dr. Paul Mace.

Dr. Michael Moses was responsible for preparing the Call List in question. He and Lovette later claimed that they had agreed to a change in the Call List after the original had been sent to the Hospital for the month of April, 2006. The agreed change would have substituted Dr. Moses for Dr. Lovette on April

6. However, the Hospital ER never received the amended Call List, and according to the original one Dr. Lovette still remained listed as being on call for April 6. It was never determined definitively who made the mistake, whether it was Dr. Moses for not sending the amended Call List to the Hospital, or the Hospital for not receiving the amended list and forwarding it to the ER. (T-8:27)

Mrs. Hans was finally admitted as an inpatient to the Hospital and taken to a hospital room at approximately 1:15 a.m. on April 7. On the way to the room, the nurse who had told her earlier about the problem contacting Dr. Lovette, helped push her stretcher down the hall to exit the ER, and told Diann she would be the first patient to be operated on that morning, at 6:30 a.m. (R-409)

In the morning of April 7 at 8:30 a.m. Dr. Sproles came to Diann's room and told her that he had just heard of her problem and that he would be performing her surgery "soon". At 10:50 a.m. Diann was taken to be prepped for surgery. (R-409)

After the surgery Dr. Sproles came to the waiting room at 1:40 p.m. and spoke with David Hans, telling him that Diann had made it through surgery and everything was "fine". Diann was returned to her room at 4:30 p.m. that afternoon and was told by a nurse that her appendix had ruptured and "they had everything out on the table". (R-409)

When Dr. Sproles came to see Diann in her room the next morning, April 8, she asked if the nurse was correct and had her appendix ruptured. He told her "No" and that the nurses did not

know what happened. After he left, in talking with her mother about things, Diann began to feel that something wasn't right, because she had a tube in her nose, oxygen, IV, a drain on her right side, and a large vertical bandage, about 6" x 12", on her stomach, and she didn't think all that was normal for a simple appendectomy. She asked Dr. Sproles about that when he returned to her room the next day, April 9, and again asked him if her appendix had ruptured or not. At first he said "No," but on further questioning, admitted that "Well, your appendix did rupture, but stayed capulet" and left the room before she could ask what that meant. (R-409)

į .

During another conversation with Dr. Sproles the following day, April 10, he asked Diann why Dr. Gaddy had let her lay in his office all day. She replied that she had not been at Dr. Gaddy's office all day, but at the hospital ER. He also asked if anyone had discussed "life flight" with her; they hadn't. (R-409)

Mrs. Hans was finally discharged on April 14, 2006, but on the way home, fluid started gushing out of the surgical incision and when it didn't stop David brought her back to the ER later that evening. They told her she had an abscess under the incision and would need more surgery. She was re-admitted into the Hospital, but the next morning Dr. Sproles came and told her the problem was not an "abscess" but an "aurora" and to go home again. (R-409)

Since that time Mrs. Hans's injuries have continued to affect her life significantly. She has had continuing pain and

related medical problems, and has lost a job she had previously held for more than 20 years as a result of her injuries.

2. Proceedings in Circuit Court

On March 29, 2007, the Hanses filed suit in Harrison County Circuit Court (R-16) against Memorial Hospital, Dr. Lovette, and Dr. Sproles. At that time a "Notice of Consultation" (R-21) was also filed as required by Miss. Code §11-1-58, confirming that Plaintiffs' counsel had conferred with a qualified expert who had found the suit warranted.

Memorial Hospital is a "governmental entity" (R-17) and prior to filing suit Plaintiffs' counsel had sent the Hospital the administrative claim letter required by the Miss. Tort Claims Act, Miss. Code §11-46-11. (R-19) However, through oversight, the 60-day notice letters required by Miss. Code §15-1-36(15) were not sent to the individual Defendants, Sproles and Lovette.

All Defendants were served with Summons and Complaint, and on March 30, 2007, the Defendant Memorial Hospital filed its Answer to the Complaint. (R-54)

Dr. Sproles did not answer the Complaint, but on April 25, 2007, he filed a Motion to Dismiss it on the grounds that the 60-day Notice required by Miss. Code §15-1-36(15) had not been sent to him. (R-28) No hearing was necessary on that motion, because Plaintiffs agreed to an Order dismissing the Complaint as to Dr. Sproles without prejudice which was entered on May 30, 2007. (R-65) Although Dr. Lovette never filed his own motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs (recognizing their failure to send the required 60-day Notice letter to him also) voluntarily dismissed the Complaint as

to him on July 16, 2007, by filing a "Notice of Partial Dismissal Without Prejudice." (R-67)

Answers to written discovery were exchanged between Plaintiffs and Memorial Hospital (R-68, 115, 273, 274, 348, 643), and the Plaintiffs were deposed (R-242, 245).

Meanwhile, Plaintiffs sent the 60-day Notices required by Miss. Code §15-1-36(15) to the two individual Defendants, Sproles and Lovette (R-345) thereby curing the problem which had prompted their dismissal previously. Then, well after the 60 days had expired, on March 20, 2008, Plaintiffs moved to amend their Complaint (R-396) to add their claims against the two doctors back into the lawsuit. That motion was granted by Order of March 25, 2008 (R-339) and Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint (R-340) adding Sproles and Lovette as Defendants was filed on March 26, 2008. The two doctors were served with Summons and Complaint on April 1 & 9, 2008 respectively (R-501).

On May 14, 2008, Plaintiffs noticed the depositions of Dr. Sproles and Dr. Lovette, along with the other two doctors who had by then been found to be involved, Dr. Moses and Dr. Mace. (R-523) The depositions were scheduled for June 25, 2008, but all four doctors filed Motions for Protective Order seeking to cancel their depositions. (R-531, 572) Those motions were eventually noticed for hearing on July 25, 2008. (R-583, 590, 606)

Meanwhile, Memorial Hospital, on March 10, 2008, had filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R-276), which on April 21, 2008, was replaced with an Amended Motion for Summary Judgment (R-361). In addition to filing formal oppositions to both the original and

amended motions (R-349, 495), Plaintiffs on July 24, 2008 filed an Affidavit from Dr. William Hale of Yale University Medical School stating his opinions that both the Hospital and Dr. Sproles were negligent in causing Diann Hans' injury.

As mentioned above, the Hospital's Amended Motion was set for hearing on July 25, 2008 (R-585), the same day as the Motions for Protective Order filed by Dr. Sproles, Dr. Lovette, Dr. Mace, and Dr. Moses. On the day set for hearings on (a) Memorial Hospital's Amended Motion for Summary Judgment and (b) the four doctors' Motions for Protective Orders, Circuit Judge Jerry Terry took up the Hospital's Motion first and granted it without ever reaching or considering the doctors' Motions for Protective Order. (T-25) Thus, the Hospital was granted summary judgment without Plaintiffs being allowed to depose the four doctors involved.

On August 1, 2008, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Rehearing of the Court's granting of summary judgment to the Hospital (R-660). Meanwhile, the two doctors who had been named as Defendants along with the Hospital -- Drs. Sproles and Lovette -- had filed Motions to Dismiss claiming that Plaintiffs' suit against them was untimely and in violation of the 60-day Notice requirement of Miss. Code §15-1-36(15).

The two doctors' motions, along with Plaintiffs' Motion for Rehearing of the Hospital's summary judgment, were set for hearing the same day, August 18, 2008. (R-662) At the hearing, Judge Terry denied the Plaintiffs' Motion for Rehearing (T-49),

and later by written order granted the doctors' Motions to Dismiss. (R-670)

Orders and Judgments of Dismissal were entered on August 27, 2008 and September 3, 2008 (R-670, 673) and Plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal was filed on September 23, 2008. (R-682).

ARGUMENT

Appellants' argument will be in two parts: (1) Discussion of Lovette's and Sproles' Motions to Dismiss, and (2) Discussion of Memorial Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Summary

The Motions to Dismiss filed by the individial Defendants, Sproles and Lovette, will be discussed first. Their motions sought dismissal based on Miss. Code §15-1-36(15) (hereinafter referred to as the Claim Notice Statute). That statute requires that at least 60 days before a medical malpractice suit is filed against a medical provider, the provider must be sent a Claim Notice. Plaintiffs failed to send the required Claim Notices to the two doctors initially, and dismissed them from the suit.

Later, more than 60 days after sending them the required notices, they were re-joined as Defendants. Thus, the Claim Notice Statute was fully complied with, and the Motions to Dismiss filed by the two doctors should have been denied.

The Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Defendant Memorial Hospital should also have been denied. The Motion claimed that Plaintiff's medical expert, Dr. Hale, had not identified any act or omission of negligence on the part of the Hospital, nor

indicated that any such negligence proximately caused or contributed to Plaintiff's injury. Those arguments were without merit, as Dr. Hale's reports clearly establish both negligence and proximate cause.

1. The Doctors' Motions to Dismiss

The sole basis of Dr. Lovette's and Dr. Sproles' Motions to Dismiss is the "60-day notice of claim" requirement of the "Claim Notice Statute", Miss. Code §15-1-36(15). The motions admit that each doctor received, not one, but two Notice of Claim letters (dated May 2, 2007 and March 14, 2008 respectively), yet their attorneys still find a way to argue that they should be dismissed because of the Claim Notice Statute.

In this Memorandum we will refer to the subject statute,
Miss. Code §15-1-36(15), as the "Claim Notice Statute", and the
two "60-day claim notice letters" involved as "Claim Notices."

After discussing the standard of review related to the Motions to Dismiss, Plaintiffs will discuss each of the two claim Claim Notices and their relationship to the Plaintiffs' Complaint and Amended Complaint. For that, we need to consider two separate sets of facts, relating to the two Claim Notices.

(a) Standards of Review

The granting of a motion to dismiss by the trial court is reviewed de novo on appeal. On such a motion the allegations of the Complaint must be accepted as true, and the Court must resolve any factual conflicts in Plaintiffs' favor. See:

Stripling v. Jordan Production Co., 234 F.3d 863, 869 (5th Cir.

2001); Durham v. Katzman, Wasserman and Bennardini, 375 F.Supp. 2d 495, 498 (S.D. Miss. 2005).

(b) The Claim Notice Statute

Miss. Code §15-1-36(15) states in pertinent part:

"No action based upon the health care provider's professional negligence may be begun unless the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the intention to begin the action. . . If the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice . . . "

(c) The First Claim Notice

ŤΞ

On April 6, 2006, the injury in suit occurred during treatment of the Plaintiff Dianne Hans at Gulfport Memorial Hospital. On March 29, 2007, Plaintiffs' original Complaint was filed, naming Drs. Lovette and Sproles as Defendants (along with Memorial Hospital). Shortly afterward, Plaintiffs' counsel was informed by Dr. Sproles' attorney, that Plaintiffs' counsel had overlooked the requirements of the Claim Notice Statute.

Plaintiffs' counsel therefore voluntarily dismissed Sproles and Lovette from the suit on May 30, 2007 and July 16, 2007, respectively. Plaintiffs' counsel and Sproles' counsel jointly agreed to an Order dismissing Sproles, without prejudice. Plaintiffs' counsel then issued his own voluntary dismissal of Lovette, since an Order of dismissal was not required under MRCP Rule 41(a)(1)(i).

Meanwhile, on May 2, 2007, Plaintiffs' counsel sent each of the doctors the required Claim Notice, as should have been done in the first place. On March 25, 2008, well after the expiration of the required 60 days following the Claim Notices sent on May 2, 2007, the Circuit Court granted Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend their original Complaint, naming Dr. Sproles and Dr. Lovette as Defendants again, this time in compliance with the Claim Notice Statute.

On March 26, 2008, pursuant to the Order allowing the amendment, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint, adding Lovette and Sproles as Defendants. This was still within the time allowed for suing them under the applicable 2-year statute of limitations for medical malpractice actions, which was due to expire on April 6 or 7, 2008. On April 1 and 9, 2008, Lovette and Sproles where served with the Amended Complaint.

Based on the foregoing events, this suit against Lovette and Sproles, initiated against them by adding them as Defendants in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint on March 26, 2008 -- well after the passage of 60 days from delivery of the Claim Notices sent on May 2, 2007, and still within the 2-year statute of limitations -- complied with the Claim Notice Statute.

How counsel for Defendant doctors are able to make any argument for escaping the obvious consequences of the foregoing is a rather amazing example of defense counsel's ingenuity.

Doctor Lovette's argument in Circuit Court was to say that even though the doctors were dismissed from the original Complaint, they were still "hanging around" in this suit because their names still appeared written into the original Complaint:

"Lovette would show that a 'non-suit' (or stipulation of dismissal) was filed by the Plaintiff on May 30, 2007, ostensibly dismissing the claim against this defendant, yet the claim itself remained ensconsed within the body of the complaint." (R-424)

Lovette's argument, in effect, was that some "ghost-like" presence remained after Lovette was originally dismissed from the suit, which somehow maintained the doctors' status as actual Defendants such that their re-joinder later was not really the filing of a new suit against them, but the same old one that had never been completely "dismissed." This argument is totally without merit.

Dr. Sproles was dismissed from this lawsuit without prejudice on May 30, 2007 (R-65). Dr. Lovette was dismissed without prejudice on July 16, 2007. (R-67) As of the dates of those dismissals, the two doctors were no longer Defendants, and had no "ghost persona" that somehow "hung around" in this suit just because of the original wording of the Complaint which at that point no longer included them as Defendants. They were later re-sued by being named as Defendants again in the Amended Complaint. The fact that they were initially included as Defendants incorrectly cannot obscure the fact that their initial improper inclusion was cured by their dismissal without prejudice. Their later re-joinder as Defendants by the Amended Complaint was then perfectly proper pursuant to the first Claim Notices and the Claim Notice Statute.

Dr. Sproles's attorneys went a small step further in their argument in Circuit Court. Instead of advancing Dr. Lovette's argument that the doctors remained "defendants" in spite of their earlier dismissal, Dr. Sproles's attorneys pointed to the wording of the Claim Notice Statute itself, which they said required

"pre-suit" notice. This argument, while it makes more sense than Lovette's, is just as misplaced.

Dr. Sproles argues that "Plaintiff is attempting to cure by amendment that which is prohibited by statute, a failure to give pre-suit notice. This is still the same suit."

The argument is a clever one, but false. It attempts to confuse "this suit" with "this suit against Dr. Sproles". Once Dr. Sproles was dismissed (without prejudice) from this suit, this suit was no longer a suit against Dr. Sproles. The Plaintiffs' Claim Notice to Sproles, sent in May, 2007 after his dismissal from this case was a "pre-suit" notice to him, because he was not sued again until the filing of the Amended Complaint against him in 2008.

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