IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO: 2008-CA-01617

DIANN AND DAVID HANS

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

~~MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT~~
ARTHUR SPROLES MD AND JAMES LOVETTE MD

~~APPELLEES~~

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. Diann and David Hans, Appellants.
2. Robert O. Homes, Esq., Attorney for Appellants.
3. Memorial Hospital at Gulfport, Appellee.

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

This Court conducts a *de novo* review of a lower court's grant of summary judgment. *Id.* at 499. The trial judge's decision will be reversed if a triable issue of fact exists; otherwise, the decision of the lower court will be affirmed. *Id.* citing *Brown v. Credit Card Center, Inc.*, 444 So.2d 358 (Miss. 1983). This Court has recognized on numerous occasions the correctness of a trial court's decision to extinguish by summary judgment or directed verdict a claim of medical negligence prior to submission of a case to a jury. *Boyd v. Lynch*, 493 So.2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1986).

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THE AFFIDAVIT PROVIDED BY HANS WAS NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 56(E)

It cannot be overlooked that the only evidence the Plaintiff provided to rebut MHG's amended motion for summary judgment was the last minute submission of the Affidavit of Dr. William Hale. (R. 651). On the eve of the hearing on MHG's amended motion for summary judgment, Hans filed a last minute affidavit in opposition to MHG's motion. (R. 651) MHG immediately filed its objections to the admission of the affidavit and the trial court heard the matter at the hearing the following morning. (R. 656-659, TR. 1-25) After hearing arguments

regarding MHG's objection to the affidavit and motion, the trial court found that the affidavit submitted by the Plaintiff failed to articulate the standard of care the Plaintiffs allege was breached by MHG. (R. 675). The trial court found that the affidavit failed to articulate how the standard of care was breached and by whom. (R. 675).

M.R.C. P. Rule 56(e) provides that "supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated therein." *MRCP 56(e)*. This Court has mandated that parties should respond to summary judgment motions with affidavits, deposition testimony, responses to discovery and other evidence approved by the governing rule of civil procedure, whether triable issues of material facts exist; parties may not simply rely on their pleadings, nor may they escape summary judgment by outlining what they might discover later. *Franklin Collection Service, Inc. V. Kyle*, 955 So.2d 284, 291 (Miss. 2007). The submission by the Plaintiff in this case failed to provide legally sufficient evidence that a genuine issue of material fact exists. The trial court ruled that the affidavit submitted at the last minute by the Plaintiffs failed to comply with the requirements of *M.R.C.P. 56(e)*. (R. 673-676)

As a matter of law, the affidavit provided by Hans failed to meet the standards required by *M.R.C.P. 56(e)* and failed to establish a prima facie case of medical malpractice. This Court has held that affidavits from experts must state their opinions to a reasonable medical probability or certainty. *Estate of Deiorio v. Pensacola Health Trust Inc.*, 990 So. 2d 804, 807 (Miss. App. 2008) A defendant in a medical malpractice action may meet its summary judgment burden by pointing out to the court that the plaintiff has failed to produce sworn expert testimony supporting his allegations. *Scales v. Lackey Memorial Hospital*, 988 So. 2d 426, 433 (Miss. App. 2008) Dr. Hale's affidavit in this case does not even aver that he is a medical doctor who

is competent to testify in this case based upon his medical knowledge, training, experience or education. It does not aver that he has any personal knowledge of the facts of this case. It does not identify any facts relating to this case. There is no mention that he reviewed the medical records of Diann Hans or that he reviewed any depositions, discovery responses or any documents to formulate his opinions. There is no factual basis presented in the submission from which it can be determined how he determined that MHG breached any standard of care in its treatment of Hans. It does not define what the standard of care requires of the emergency room providers. It does not define or point to any fact in this case as to how any emergency room provider failed to comply with the standard of care in this case. Finally, the affidavit does not identify any training, experience or education on behalf of Dr. Hale that would illustrate that he is competent to testify regarding the standard of care in emergency room medicine.

Pursuant to *MRE 702 (amended 2003)*:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

MRE 702

It is this Court's general rule that in a medical malpractice action, negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care.

Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So.2d 229, 232 (Miss. 2004). A physician who is sufficiently "familiar with the standards of a medical specialty may testify as an expert even though he does not practice the specialty himself." *Troupe v. McCauley*, 955 So.2d 848, 856 (Miss. 2007).

However, he must demonstrate that he is sufficiently familiar with the standards of the medical

specialty by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in accordance with MRE 702. *Id.*

It is MHG's contention that Dr. Hale's affidavit failed to provide sufficient admissible evidence that Dr. Hale was competent to testify as an expert in this case. While MHG acknowledges that its motion was not Daubert challenge, Hans was required to provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate that she retained an expert witness who could define and articulate the standard of care she claimed was breached by MHG that caused her injury. She failed to do so in this case. As indicated in her interrogatory answers, which MHG reminds the court is **NOT** sworn expert testimony, Dr. Hale serves as Chief of Gastroenterology and Hepatology at Norwalk Hospital in Connecticut. (R. 357-359) According to his resume, he has practiced in the field of gastroenterology his entire career and has never practiced emergency room medicine. In addition, he has no emergency room training or experience specified on his resume. There is no experience, training or skill provided in the affidavit or interrogatory responses that demonstrates Dr. Hale's familiarity with the standards of emergency room medicine by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in accordance with *Miss. R. Evid. 702*. Hans has failed to provide *any* evidence or information that Dr. Hale is sufficiently versed in emergency room medicine in order to provide any opinions regarding Hans' treatment in the emergency room at MHG. Since Hans failed to provide expert testimony in support of her claims against MHG, MHG is entitled to summary judgment and the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment to MHG in this case.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS HANS FAILED TO PROVIDE EXPERT TESTIMONY DEFINING THE STANDARD OF CARE AND FAILED TO PRODUCE EVIDENCE OF CAUSATION IN SUPPORT OF HER MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS

Unless an issue under consideration in a medical malpractice action is within the common

knowledge of laymen, expert testimony is required. *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center*, 564 So. 2d 1346, 1355 (Miss. 1990) Case law requires that in a medical malpractice action, negligence cannot be established without medical testimony that the defendant failed to use ordinary skill and care. *Id. at 1355* An expert is necessary to determine the applicable standard of care that the hospital's actions breached the standard of care and that such breach was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries. *Palmer at 1355; also citing Phillips v. Hull*, 516 So. 2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987)

Not only must a plaintiff prove those elements in a medical malpractice suit, but expert testimony must be used. *Barner v. Gorman*, 605 So. 2d 805, 809 (Miss. 1992) Expert testimony is required to identify and articulate the requisite standard of care that was not complied with and is necessary to establish that the failure to comply with the standard of care was the proximate cause of the alleged injuries. *Barner v. Gorman*, 605 So. 2d 805, 809 (Miss. 1992); *see also Latham v. Haynes*, 495 So. 2d 453 (Miss. 1986) The Plaintiff's failure to establish a *prima facie* case with expert testimony warrants the granting of summary judgment. *Id.* The Plaintiff's failure to provide expert opinion evidencing causation is fatal to her case. *Drummond v. Buckley*, 627 So. 2d 264 (Miss. 1993)

The Mississippi Supreme Court has mandated that to present a *prima facie* case of medical malpractice a plaintiff must, (1) after establishing the doctor-patient relationship and its attendant duty, present expert testimony (2) identifying and articulating the requisite standard of care; and (3) establishing that the defendant physician failed to conform to the standard of care. In addition, (4) the plaintiff must prove the physician's noncompliance with the standard of care caused the plaintiff's injury, as well as proving (5) the extent of the plaintiff's damages. *Troupe*

v. McAuley, 955 So. 2d 848, 856 (Miss. 2007) In *Troupe*, the Court held that a physician who is sufficiently “familiar with the standards of a medical specialty may testify as an expert even though he does not practice the specialty himself”. *Id.* However, that expert must exercise the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field.

Id. at 858

It is longstanding law that a plaintiff claiming medical malpractice must show that there is a causal connection between the injury and the defendant’s conduct or acts. *Powell v.*

Methodist Health Care Jackson Hospitals 876 So. 2d 347, 348 (Miss. 2004). The Plaintiff’s failure to provide expert opinion evidence establishing causation is fatal to their case.

Drummond v. Buckley, 627 So. 2d 264 (Miss. 1993); *see also Clayton v. Thomas*, 475 So. 2d 439, 445 (Miss. 1985) The party offering the expert testimony must show that the expert based his conclusions not on opinions or speculation, but rather on scientific methods and procedures.

Tunica County v. Matthews, 926 So. 2d 209, 213 (Miss. 2006)

Assuming that Dr. Hale is competent to opine as to the standard of care in this case and considering the affidavit in the light most favorable to Hans, the affidavit presented by Hans fails to establish a prima facie case of medical malpractice against MHG. Mississippi law provides that expert testimony is required to identify and articulate the requisite standard of care that was not complied with and is necessary to establish that the failure to comply with the standard of care was the proximate cause of the alleged injuries. *Barner v. Gorman*, 605 So. 2d 805, 809 (Miss. 1992); *see also Latham v. Haynes*, 495 So. 2d 453 (Miss. 1986) An expert is necessary to determine the applicable standard of care and such expert must define what the standard of care is. *Mallet v. Carter*, 803 So. 2d 504, 508 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) It is also necessary that the

expert specifically define what actions breached the standard of care and how such breach caused the plaintiff's injuries. *Id.* This includes providing testimony with specific facts and medical analysis to substantiate the claim that a plaintiff had a greater than fifty percent chance of substantial recovery if he had received the care the expert contends was required. *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So. 2d 951, 965-966 (Miss. 2007)

It cannot be overlooked that Dr. Hale's written letters do not opine that MHG breached the standard of care in this case. In fact, it specifically says that "[a]lthough the diagnosis of appendicitis was suspected clinically and confirmed radiologically in an appropriately prompt fashion, there was a significant delay before she was evaluated by a surgeon, Dr. Arthur Sproles, and a further delay before an appendectomy was performed". (R. 653) As indicated in MHG's amended responses to interrogatories, emergency room physicians do not admit patients to the hospital and the physician admitting the patient assumes the care of the patient. (R. 379-400) Dr. Sproles admitted Hans to the hospital at 2155 (9:55 pm) on April 6, 2006. (R. 404) Emergency room physicians do not operate on patients or determine a patient's surgery schedule. (R. 396-400) Hans has provided no sworn evidence that MHG failed to comply to any standard of care when Dr. Sproles assumed care of the patient at 2155 that evening. Dr. Hale's "written report" does not specify any act or omission by anyone at MHG which caused damage to Hans. In fact, it purports to say that Hans was diagnosed in an appropriately prompt fashion. Any opinion regarding when Dr. Sproles evaluated his patient or performed surgery on his patient does not involve MHG as it is undisputed that Dr. Sproles is not an employee or agent of MHG.

Reviewing the submission in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, the affidavit fails to articulate what was required of MHG except to make a blanket statement that a delay occurred

after Hans' appendicitis diagnosis. (R. 652). Nothing in the "exhibits" to Hale's affidavit specifies *who* caused a delay or *how* any alleged delay was caused. Dr. Hale doesn't identify any medical providers by name or service other than Dr. Sproles. It is undisputed in this case that Dr. Sproles is not an employee or agent of MHG. In addition, the "exhibits" do not contain *any* facts relating to any treatment of Hans received from MHG. At a bare minimum, the Plaintiff's expert should be required to articulate what treatment constitutes the standard of care that should be provided by a minimally competent provider and how the Defendant failed to conform to that standard of care. *Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc.*, 908 So.2d 117, 120 (Miss. 2005). Dr. Hale's letter of March 24, 2008 states "[t]hese delays were negligent and unreasonable and were the result of failure to follow accepted medical practice." (R. 652) Hans claims this is sufficient to define the standard of care and the breach. However, the letter does not articulate what constitutes "accepted medical practice". It doesn't even define "significant delay" in this case or how any such delay was the result of a failure to follow acceptable medical practice on the part of MHG. It does not identify what medical provider delayed in providing what treatment to Hans which caused her injury. Was an emergency room physician negligent? Was an emergency room nurse negligent? Was an emergency room technician negligent? The blanket statements of negligence at this stage of the litigation are unacceptable and Hans had a responsibility to provide the trial court with probative evidence legally sufficient to make apparent the existence of triable fact issues. She failed to do so and the trial court was correct when it granted summary judgment in favor of MHG.

THE FAILURE OF HANS TO PROVIDE AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF HER ARGUMENTS AND THE RAISING OF THE ARGUMENTS FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL PRECLUDES REVIEW BY THIS COURT

It would be error for this Court to examine Hans' arguments on the issue of whether the trial court properly ruled that she failed to articulate and define the standard of care in this case without requiring her to provide authority in support of her position. It is long standing law that the failure of an appellant to cite authority in support of an assignment of error constitutes a procedural bar and waives the argument on that issue. *J.N.W.E. v. W.D.W*, 922 So. 2d 12, 19-20 (Miss. App. 2006) citing *Varvaris v. Perrault*, 813 So. 2d 750, 753 (Miss. App. 2001); *Eagle Management LLC v. Parks*, 938 So. 2d 899, 903 (Miss. App. 2006); *United Plumbing & Heating Co. Inc. v. Mosley*, 835 So. 2d 88, 92 (Miss.App. 2002) While a party may cite authority for different issues, if an appellant fails to provide authority in support of each individual issue, said assignment of error is procedurally barred. *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So. 2d 1057, 1075 (Miss. 2000).

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